#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

#### No. 2007-CA-00908

## DONNA CALLAHAN and DONNA HOLST

**APPELLANTS** 

VS.

4

ŧ

5

# CALENDAR J. LEDBETTER and LEE COUNTY SCHOOL BOARD

**APPELLEES** 

#### APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF LEE COUNTY

#### APPELLANT'S PRINCIPAL BRIEF

Clarence McDonald Leland CLARENCE MCDONALD LELAND, LTD. 200 Town Square, Suite A P.O. Box 1466 Brandon, Mississippi 39042 (601) 969-0731

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI No. 2007-CA-00908

## DONNA CALLAHAN and DONNA HOLST

APPELLANTS

VS.

## CALENDAR J. LEDBETTER and LEE COUNTY SCHOOL BOARD

#### APPELLEES

#### CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

STATEMENT OF THE CASE		
	(A)	Procedural History
	(B)	Facts
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 8		
ARGUMENT		
I.	The Tr	rial Court erred in assessing Donna Callahan's Damages 9
	A.	Standard of Review
	B.	Failure to Plead Affirmative Defense of Contributory Negligence 10
	C.	Lack of Evidence of Contributory Negligence
II.	The Trial Court Erred in Reducing Donna Holst's Recovery by 35% as a guest   passenger.   .14	
III.	The Trial Court Erred in Determining the Amount of Damages	
	A.	Damages to Donna Holst 15
	B.	Damages to Donna Callahan
III.	CONCLUSION	
CERT	'IFICA'	TE OF FILING AND SERVICE

- -

#### **TABLE OF AUTHORITIES**

### CASES:

\_

r

Blake v. Clein, 903 So.2d 710,729-30 (Miss. 2005)
<i>Choctaw, Inc. v. Wilcher</i> , 521 So.2d 878(Miss. 1988)15
<i>City of Jackson v. Perry</i> , 764 So.2d 373, 376(¶9)(Miss. 2000)
Dame v. Estes, 101 So.2d 644(Miss. 1958)
<i>Ezell v. Williams</i> , 724 So.2d 396, 397(¶4)(Miss. 1998)
Hertz Commercial Leasing v. Morrison, 567 So.2d 832(Miss. 1990)
Illinois Central Railroad Company v. Brasher, 80 So.2d 739(Miss.1955)14
Marr v. Nichols, 208 So.2d 770(Miss.1968)14
Mississippi State Hosp. V. Wood, 823 So.2d 598, 601(¶7)(Miss.Ct.App. 2002)10
<i>Myrick v. Holifield</i> , 126 So.2d 508(Miss. 1961)11, 13
Puckett v. Stuckey, 633 So.2d 978, 982(Miss. 1993)
Simpson v. City of Pickens, 761 So.2d 855, 860(¶ 15) (Miss. 2000)
Stanton v. Delta Regional Medical Center, 802So.2d 142, 145(¶6)(Miss.Ct.App. 2001) 10
Woodward v. St. Louis-San Francisco Ry. Co., 418 F.2d 1305, 1306(5th Cir. 1969) 14, 15
Yazoo & M.V.R. Co. v. Lucken, 102 So. 393, 398(Miss. 1925)

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

This is an intersection car wreck case where a Lee County School District bus which had stopped at a stop sign pulled out in front of an automobile traveling on a through highway causing the automobile to hit the bus just behind the door on the right side of the bus.

### I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING CALLAHAN TO BE THIRTY-FIVE PERCENT CONTRIBUTORILY NEGLIGENT.

- II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REDUCING DONNA HOLST'S RECOVERY BY 35% AS A GUEST PASSENGER.
- III. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DETERMINING THE AMOUNT OF DAMAGES.

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

#### (A) **Procedural History**

This case is a Tort Claims Act case which was tried to a verdict in a bench trial before the Honorable Thomas J. Gardner, III, Circuit Judge, in the Circuit Court of Lee County, Mississippi on the 9<sup>th</sup> day of January, 2007.

#### (B) Facts

à

This case arose when a Lee County School District bus driven by Calendar Ledbetter, now deceased, was traveling on County Road 261, commonly known as Bissell Road. The bus had stopped at the intersection of the Natchez Trace and County Road 261, when it pulled from the stop sign on Bissell Road into the path of the northbound 1999 Dodge Intreped driven by Donna Callahan with Donna Holst and Jeremy Callahan as guest passengers. Calendar Ledbetter, the driver of the Lee County School District bus was cited by the federal park ranger for failure to yield the right of way. P1, Exhibit 1 (accident report). Ms. Ledbetter paid the fine in federal court in Oxford. P1, p. 48. Donna Callahan was not charged with any violations. P1, Exhibit 1.

The 1999 Dodge Intreped was disabled as a result of the accident. Donna Holst, mother of Donna Callahan, suffered incapacitating injuries in the accident. P1, Exhibit 1. On the day of the accident, Calendar Ledbetter, the driver of the Lee County School District bus, gave a statement to the federal park ranger stating that she did not see the Dodge Intreped coming and that when she heard the brakes squeal she punched it but got hit. P1, Exhibit 1.

When Ms. Ledbetter was deposed (Ms. Ledbetter's deposition was read into the record), she contradicted that statement and said that the bus brakes did not squeal nor did

Ms. Ledbetter had to go to Oxford to federal court to pay her ticket. T. p. 48.

There were three occupants of the Callahan vehicle. Donna Callahan was driving, her son Jeremy was sitting in the middle between his mother and his grandmother Donna Holst. The family was on the way to Tupelo because it was Donna Callahan's birthday and her mom, Donna Holst, was treating the family, Donna's two boys, and Donna's brother, to dinner and a movie. T. p. 7.

Donna Callahan testified that they got onto the Trace, had to detour because of a construction zone, then they got back onto the Trace. She saw the school bus on her left and it was stopped at the stop sign. Donna let up off the gas because she has always been a cautious driver. *Id.* She did not apply her brakes, she only took her foot off the gas, just to be cautious. T. p. 8. Just as the Callahan vehicle got to the bus, it pulled out and Donna Callahan could do nothing other than slam on her brakes. *Id.*, T. p. 13. The bus driver either hit the brakes or punched it, depending on which version of her story is believed.

The Callahan vehicle hit the bus close to the front. *Id.* When the impact was over, Donna Callahan looked at her son Jeremy, who was injured with a hole between his eyes that you could probably fit a nickel into and the hole was deep, all the way to Jeremy's skull. Donna Callahan then pulled her son out of the car and he had started bleeding heavily, the blood running down his face. *Id.* 

The blood got all over Jeremy, it was pouring out on the highway. Donna had never seen that much blood before, she was screaming for someone to help her because she thought her son was going to bleed to death, she was hysterical at that time. A man pulled up behind the bus, got out and called 911. T. p. 9. Another man that was headed south on the Trace stopped and used a towel to try to stop the bleeding. *Id.* Jeremy was only ten at

the time of the wreck. T. p. 10.

r X After calming down, Donna Callahan checked on her mother. Her mother, Donna Holst could not move. *Id.* Fortunately, a registered nurse happened upon the wreck and was attending to Donna Holst, telling Mrs. Holst not to move because she may have a neck injury. Her neck was already visibly swollen. T. p. 11-12, 39. It took about 30 to 45 minutes for the ambulance to get there, and the ambulance took Jeremy and Mrs. Holst to the emergency room with Donna Callahan riding in the front of the ambulance. T. p. 12.

When Donna Holst arrived at the emergency room she was unable to sign the admission papers because of numbness in her dominant arm. P-7. The arm became numb after the impact with the bus. T. p. 39. The ER nurse's assessment on arrival at the hospital documents right breast pain and right arm numbness. *Id.*, T.p. 58. Her diagnosis at the ER that night was acute chest pain, acute cervical strain and small submandibular hematoma. P-7. The ER missed a cracked rib which she sustained in the wreck but it was later found by Dr. Simpson. T. p. 41. Her neck was swelling that night but did not start giving her problems for a few days after that. T. p. 58. She went to Dr. Gore for these problems. Dr. Gore sent her to Dr. Hammett because he could not do anything for her. T.p. 59.

Donna Holst had previously had problems with her cervical spine which had required surgery on her spine at C-6,7 in 1997. T. p.125. After the spine surgery in 1997 healed, she was doing well and was off all medications, experiencing little, if any, pain after the surgery. P-2, p. 40. Donna Holst and Donna Callahan testified that Donna Holst was relatively pain free and functioning very well after the 1997 surgery. T. p. 20, 52, 53. The surgeon's records (Dr. Windham) reflect that three weeks post surgery she was off all medications and had no pain. T. p. 56. About a week after the wreck Donna was trying to fix a curtain in her bathroom and when she reached up to fix it, she went down "like a rock." She called an ambulance after she lay there for a while. Dr. Simpson diagnosed her with a cracked rib. T. p. 41. In addition, the wreck caused her neck to start causing her pain again. She tried several things, including going to a chiropractor but that just made her problem worse. *Id.* She went to Dr. Gore who referred her to Dr. Hammett in Tupelo. *Id.* Dr. Hammett started epidurals in her neck and also placed her on a TENS unit. *Id.* 

Donna Holst continues to be treated by Dr. Hammett for the neck pain, having treatments every three to four months which costs approximately \$10,000.00 per year, not counting hospital or radiologist fees associated with them. T. p. 50. Donna Holst's life expectancy, according to the mortality tables in evidence, showed that she had a life expectancy of 21.4 years left at the trial date, which amounts to \$210,000.00 in future medicals. *Id.* Donna Holst had already utilized \$106,560.36 in medicals at trial time. T. p. 48. The trial court awarded Donna Holst \$40,000.00 in damages reduced by 35% for contributory negligence on the part of her daughter Donna Callahan, for a total award to Mrs. Holst of \$26,000.00. R. 116.

Donna Holst's pain management doctor, Dr. George Hammitt, III, testified that the wreck that forms the basis of this lawsuit caused the facet disease that she has and the wreck aggravated the degenerative disc disease that she already had. Exhibit 2, p. 21, 37. Donna Callahan was not having to have pain injections prior to the wreck and the wreck worsened her pain to the point that she and her family practitioner sought further treatment. Exhibit 2, p. 38. The wreck aggravated her degenerative disc disease. Exhibit 2, p. 39. Donna Holst suffered damage above the previous cervical fusion in the wreck. This is one

6

level above the 1997 fusion, which is consistent with what one would expect in a moderate to high speed crash. Exhibit 2, p. 41-42.

The defendants' expert, Dr. Michael Currie, is not a pain management specialist but is a specialist in neuroradiology and general radiology. T. p. 99. Dr. Currie testified that he could see nothing on any radiological study to account for Donna Holst's pain but was quick to voluntarily add on direct examination that "it's very difficult to correlate exactly what is occurring with findings radiographically when sometimes (sic) is happening neurologically" and that sometimes a patient will look terrible on a radiological study and not be having pain and conversely a patient will look good on a study and be experiencing pain. T. p. 116.

Dr. Currie compared studies done in 1997 when Donna Holst had surgery with studies done in 2002, after the wreck. Dr. Currie's opinion was that there was no evidence of any significant progression in her disease after the 1997. T. p. 137, L. 22-28. Dr. Currie would have expected Donna Holst to regain her function. T. p. 139, L. 22-23. However, Dr. Currie could not say that Donna Holst does not have more pain now than she did before the wreck because pain is subjective and there is no way to measure it. T. p. 155, L. 14-18. Dr. Currie does not disagree with Dr. Hammitt's conclusion that Donna Holst's condition was aggravated by the wreck nor does he believe that Dr. Hammitt is doing anything wrong in his treatment of Donna Holst. T. p. 156, L. 25-29, T. p. 157, L. 1-6.

Dr. Currie recognizes that a radiological study does not always tell the tale as he testified about his own patient having terrible pain in his neck when the studies showed no problem with the spine, and that this is not an exact science. T. p. 158, L. 16-27. Dr. Currie also acknowledges that Dr. Hammitt is in a better position to know Donna Holst's

condition than he is as he has never examined Mrs. Holst and that Dr. Hammitt is in a better position to determine if there is a causal connection between the wreck and Donna Holst's pain. T. p. 158, L28-29, T. p. 159, L. 1-11.

Dr. Currie agrees that everything within reason has been tried on Mrs. Holst to relieve her pain. T.p. 160, L. 9-12. Dr. Currie also agreed that he had spent a limited amount of time in evaluating the records only, less time than Dr.Hammitt has spent with Mrs. Holst. T.p. 160, L. 24-28. Dr. Currie testifies that problems at the C-6 level cause problems with the arm and into the hand and finger areas. T. p. 161, L. 2-8. These are the exact problems shown on the ER documents on the day of the wreck, wherein Donna Holst complained of right arm numbness as shown on the Emergency Department Nurses Assessment which is the next to last page in Exhibit 7. Exhibit P-7.

Dr. Currie sums up his opinion of Mrs. Holst condition by saying that he does not dispute that the motor vehicle accident aggravated Mrs. Holst's symptoms, that it is not unusual for a patient to have problems, like he described in his own patient, to have pain complexes that cannot be explained radiographically. T. 163, L. 1-23.

The defendants stipulated that the medical expenses totaling \$106,560.36 were reasonable and necessary but dispute that they are causally connected to the accident. T. p. 51, L. 9-13. No testimony from Dr. Currie was received which contradicted the reasonableness or necessity of the bills, nor did he testify that they were not causally related to the wreck.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

.

The trial court erred as a matter of law when it ruled that Donna Callahan was contributorily negligent in this wreck because there was no evidence in the record that she

8

did anything she should not have done nor failed to do anything that she should have done. In order to receive the benefit of an affirmative defense, such as contributory negligence, a party must plead the defense in its answer or on motion. The defendant did not so plead.

The trial court erred in assessing Donna Holst's damages. The proof showed that Donna Holst had past medicals in the amount of \$106,560.36 at the time of trial and more than \$210,000.00 in future medicals over Donna Holst's remaining life shown by the mortality tables in evidence of 21.4 years at an average medical expense level of \$10,000.00 per year, not considering the inflating cost of medical care. The trial court gave no indication of what damages, if any, it considered in arriving at a figure of \$40,000.00 nor how it arrived at such a figure. The trial court incorrectly reduced Donna Holst's recovery by 35% which it assigned to the driver of the vehicle in which Donna Holst was riding as a guest passenger.

#### **ARGUMENT**

## I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ASSESSING DONNA CALLAHAN'S DAMAGES.

#### A. Standard of Review

This case was brought under this state's Tort Claims Act, which permits negligence actions against state agencies under certain conditions that include the requirement that, if the case goes to trial, it will be heard as a bench trial. *Simpson v. City of Pickens*, 761 So.2d 855, 860(¶ 15) (Miss. 2000). The trial court sits as finder of fact and, if the court's factual determinations are challenged on appeal, as here, the reviewing court must consider the entire record and is obligated to affirm where there is substantial evidence in the record to support the trial court's findings. *Ezell v. Williams*, 724 So.2d 396,

397 (¶ 4) (Miss. 1998); *Mississippi State Hosp. v. Wood*, 823 So.2d 598, 601(¶ 7) (Miss. Ct. App. 2002). The facts found by the trial judge will not be disturbed unless the judge "abused his discretion, was manifestly wrong, his findings are clearly erroneous or an erroneous legal standard was applied." *Stanton v. Delta Regional Medical Center*, 802 So.2d 142, 145 (¶ 6) (Miss. Ct. App. 2001).

The standard of review for a judgment entered pursuant to a bench trial is well settled. "A circuit court judge sitting without a jury is accorded the same deference with regard to his findings as a chancellor," and his findings are safe on appeal where they are supported by substantial, credible, and reasonable evidence. *City of Jackson v. Perry*, 764 So.2d 373, 376 (¶ 9) (Miss. 2000) (citing *Puckett v. Stuckey*, 633 So.2d 978, 982 (Miss. 1993). Mississippi appellate courts review errors of law, which include the proper application of the Mississippi Tort Claims Act, de novo. *Perry*, 764 So.2d at 376.

#### B. Failure To Plead Affirmative Defense of Contributory Negligence

Rule 8 of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure sets forth the General Rules Of Pleadings. Rule 8c sets out the affirmative defenses which are available in Mississippi. Among them is the defense of contributory negligence. Rule 8(c) is a mandatory rule in that it says that a party **shall** (emphasis added) set forth the affirmative defenses in the pleading. The text of the applicable portion of the rule is as follows:

(c) *Affirmative defenses*. In pleading to a preceding pleading, a party shall set forth affirmatively accord and satisfaction, arbitration and award, assumption of risk, contributory negligence, discharge in bankruptcy, duress, estoppel, failure of consideration, fraud, illegality, injury by fellow servant, laches, license, payment, release, res judicata, statute of frauds, statute of limitations, waiver, and any other matter constituting an avoidance or affirmative defense. When a party has mistakenly designated a defense as a counter-claim or a counter-claim as a defense, the court on

terms, if justice so requires, shall treat the pleading as if there had been proper designation.

The defendants failed to plead contributory negligence as an affirmative defense in their answer as required by the rule. R. p. 5-8 If a party fails to plead an affirmative defense, that defense is waived. *Hertz Commercial Leasing v. Morrison*, 567 So.2d 832 (Miss. 1990). Contributory negligence is an affirmative defense and must be pleaded and proved by defendant. *Myrick v. Holifield*, 126 So.2d 508 (Miss. 1961). The defendants did no so plead, therefore this defense was waived and the trial court incorrectly reduced the damage awarded to Donna Holst and Donna Callahan.

#### C. Lack of Evidence of Contributory Negligence

Donna Callahan was the driver of the 1999 Dodge Intrepid which collided with the Lee County School District bus driven by Calendar Ledbetter. Donna Callahan testified the she was a cautious driver and that she had always been such a cautious driver. T. p. 7. Donna Callahan testified that she was on the Trace, a through highway, that she saw the school bus stopped at the intersection. Donna Callahan is a cautious driver and she took her foot off the gas just because she was being cautious. *Id.* The school bus did not pull out until the Callahan vehicle was almost to the bus. T. p. 8. Donna Callahan could do nothing other than slam on her brakes. She skidded perhaps six to ten feet before hitting the bus close to the front of the bus. *Id.* There were no injuries on the bus indicating Donna Callahan was not traveling very fast. P-1.

Calendar Ledbetter failed to keep a proper lookout on the day of the accident, as the trial court so found, causing her to fail to yield the right of way when she admitted that she

should have taken a second look before pulling out into the intersection. P-1 p. 18. The court found that she was distracted by the children in the bus. T. 112. Ms. Ledbetter either punched the accelerator or slammed on her brakes depending on which version of her story is believed.

Ms. Ledbetter's deposition significantly conflicted with her statements to Donna Callahan and the park ranger who wrote the accident report on the day of the wreck. Ms. Ledbetter, in her deposition, said there were four children on the bus. The accident report attached to Ms. Ledbetter's deposition shows the names of seven children who were on the bus. P-1, Exhibit 1. When asked in her deposition she said that she never saw the car nor the truck in front of the car. Exhibit P-1, p.10, 11. The day of the wreck she told Donna Callahan that she saw the truck in front of the Callahan vehicle. T. p. 10, 11. Ms. Ledbetter should certainly be considered an unreliable witness as her statements to the federal park ranger and Donna Callahan totally conflict with her deposition testimony.

Perhaps the most telling inconsistency between Ms. Ledbetter's deposition and her statements on the day of the wreck concerns her actions when she saw the Callahan vehicle. At the time of her deposition she said that when she saw the Callahan vehicle it was 25 to 30 feet away and she slammed on her brakes. P-1, p. 24, 25. Ms. Ledbetter denied hearing tires squeal as she told the park ranger on the day of the wreck. *Id.* p. 25., Exhibit 1 to P-1. In her deposition she said Donna Callahan did not hit her brakes at all, the only way she stopped was when she hit the bus. P-1, p. 33. Ms. Ledbetter did not mention seeing the Callahan vehicle when she gave her statement to the park ranger. Ms. Ledbetter said that she heard the squeal and punched it but I got hit. P-1, Exhibit 1. Ms. Ledbetter was ticked

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