IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

No. 2007-CA-00908

DONNA CALLAHAN and DONNA HOLST

APPELLANTS

V.

ł

ļ

ł

1

ł

ł

CALENDAR J. LEDBETTER and LEE COUNTY SCHOOL BOARD

APPELLEES

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF LEE COUNTY

APPELEE'S BRIEF

WILLIAM C. MURPHREE Mitchell, McNutt & Sams, P.A. 105 South Front Street Post Office Box 7120 Tupelo, Mississippi 38802-7120 (662) 842-3871 (662) 842-8450 Fax

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

No. 2007-CA-00908

DONNA CALLAHAN and DONNA HOLST

APPELLANTS

V.

CALENDAR J. LEDBETTER and LEE COUNTY SCHOOL BOARD

APPELLEES

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

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

Summary of the Argument

The trial court properly found that Donna Callahan negligently failed to keep a reasonable lookout and that her negligence along with negligence of the school bus driver

proximately caused the collision of the two vehicles.

The evidence established that Donna Holst suffered from degenerative disk disease long before the collision occurred and that three years before the collision she underwent a cervical fusion to relieve intractable pain. The evidence clearly established that the collision caused no new injury nor did it cause any new condition. While the trauma did temporarily exacerbate her pre-existing condition, this exacerbation caused Holst to suffer more pain for only a limited period of time. The evidence established that Holst's present condition and the treatment needed for that condition result not from the collision but from her pre-existing condition.

Argument

I. The Trial Court Erred in Assessing Donna Callahan's Damages

(A) Standard of Review

Thompson brought this case under the Mississippi Tort Claims Act; therefore the Circuit Court of Lee County had the sole authority to determine the credibility of the witnesses, to assess the persuasiveness of each witness, to decide what weight to afford to the testimony of each witness. <u>Mississippi Dept. of Public Safety v. Durn</u>; 861 So. 2d 990 (Miss. 2003); <u>Donaldson v.</u> <u>Covington County</u>, 846 So. 2d 219 (Miss. 2003); <u>City of Jackson v. Brister</u>, 838 So. 2d 274 (Miss. 2003).

This Court gives great deference to the trial judge's findings of fact, and the trial court's findings of fact are safe on appeal if they are supported by substantial, credible, and reliable evidence. <u>Durn, supra, at 994; Donaldson, supra, at 227; Brister, supra, at 277</u>.

This Court must let stand the findings of the trial court unless it finds those findings manifestly wrong or clearly erroneous. <u>Donaldson, supra</u>, at 227; <u>Singley v. Smith</u>, 844 So. 2d

1

448 (Miss. 2003); <u>Wilson v. Greyhound Bus Lines, Inc.</u>, 830 So. 2d 1151 (Miss. 2002). That this Court might conclude that it would have decided the case differently does not alone constitute a basis to reverse the trial court. <u>McCardle v. McCardle</u>, 862 So. 2d 1290 (Miss. 2004); Bratcher v. Surrette, 848 So. 2d 893 (Miss. 2003).

(B) Failure to Plead Affirmative Defense of Contributory Negligence

Callahan and Holst maintain that Lee County failed to affirmatively plead the defense of contributory negligence. Callahan and Holst maintain, therefore, that the trial judge erroneously awarded them less than their total damages. As Lee County will discuss in more detail in the next section of this brief, the trial judge did not lessen the damage award to Holst pursuant to the theory of comparative negligence.

Callahan correctly notes that Lee County did not plead the defense of contributory negligence. However, in his opening statement before the Court heard any testimony, one of Lee County's attorneys stated:

The County readily acknowledges that there is some degree of fault in this trial. However, we say that there's also a degree of fault on Mrs. Callahan, who was driving the vehicle. We believe the evidence will bear that out. (R.A. Vol. II, p. 3)

Prior to the Court's taking testimony neither Callahan nor Holst filed any motion in <u>limine</u> asking the Court to exclude any evidence regarding Callahan's negligence. At no time during the trial did either Callahan or Holst object to the admission of any evidence regarding Callahan's negligence. At the conclusion of all the testimony neither Callahan nor Holst mentioned the issue of Callahan's negligence.

The Court after accepting post-trial briefs entered its opinion and judgment (Vol. I, Record Excerpts, pp. 0110 et seq. The Court after reviewing the evidence presented at trial stated:

5

In considering the relative responsibility of the drivers of the two vehicles involved in the accident, the Court, in its role as fact finder, finds that Mrs. Ledbetter, driver of the Defendant, Lee County School Board's bus is 65% responsible for the accident and resulting injuries, leaving Mrs. Callahan 35% of the responsibility for such. (R.A. Vol. 1 Record Excerpts, p. 00113).

First, Rule 15 of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure eliminates the complaint by

Callahan and Holst that the trial court erroneously considered Callahan's negligence and applied

the doctrine of comparative negligence. Rule 15(b) provides:

(b) Amendment to Conform to the Evidence.

When issues not raised by the pleadings are tried by expressed or implied consent of the parties, they shall be treated in all respects as if they had been raised in the pleadings. Such amendment of the pleadings as may be necessary to cause them to conform to the evidence and to raise these issues may be made upon motion of any party at any time, even after judgment; but failure so to amend does not affect the result of the trial of these issues. If evidence is objected to at the trial on the ground that it is not within the issues made by the pleadings, the court may allow the pleadings to be amended and shall do so freely when the presentation of the merits of the action will be subserved thereby and the objecting party fails to satisfy the court that the admission of such evidence would prejudice the maintaining of the action or defense upon the merits. The court may grant a continuance to enable the objecting party to meet such evidence. The court is to be liberal in granting permission to amend when justice so requires.

Since neither Callahan nor Holst made any objection following the statement that the County would prove Callahan partially at fault for the collision, and at no other time, they certainly impliedly consented to trying the issue of Callahan's negligence. As Rule 15 provides, the fact that the County did not move to amend its Answer to conform to proof of Callahan's negligence does not affect the trial of this issue.

Second, neither Callahan nor Holst filed a Rule 59 motion for a new trial asserting that the trial court erroneously applied the doctrine of comparative negligence. The appellate courts of Mississippi have held time and again that they will not review errors occurring at trial unless the appellant brought the error to the attention of the trial court in a motion for a new trial.¹ <u>Armstrong v. Gaddis</u>, 32 So. 917 (Miss. 1902); <u>Hayes v. Slidell Liquor Co.</u>, 55 So. 356 (Miss. 1911); <u>Briscoe's Estate v. Briscoe</u>, 255 So.2d 313 (Miss. 1971); <u>Materials Transp. Co. v.</u> <u>Newman</u>, 656 So.2d 1199 (Miss. 1995); <u>Wilson v. G.M. Acceptance Corp.</u>, 883 So.2d 56 (Miss. 2004); <u>Hillier v. Minas</u>, 757 So.2d 1034 (Miss. App. 2000).

Third, the Supreme Court in cases not necessarily involving a motion for new trial has held that if a variance occurs between pleading and proof, a party must object when the other party offers the proof. A party cannot fail to object and then raise the issue for the first time on appeal. Stonewall Life Ins. Co. v. Cooke, 144 So. 217, 225 (Miss. 1932); Ark. Fuel Oil Co. v. Trinidad Asphalt Mfg. Co., 198 So. 41, 42 (Miss. 1940); Alexander Pool Co. v. Peavey, 152 So.2d 451, 455 (Miss. 1963); Robertson v. Stroup, 180 So.2d 617 (Miss. 1965); Downes v. Crosby Chem. Co., 234 So.2d 916, 921 (Miss. 1970); Kayser v. Dixon, 309 So.2d 526, 530 (Miss. 1975).

Finally, the Supreme Court has held that §11-7-17 Mississippi Code of 1972 permits the fact finder to apply the doctrine of comparative negligence even though the defendant has not pled contributory negligence. When a jury serves as fact finder the jury can apply the doctrine even through the defendant has not pled comparative negligence and even though the trial court has not given a comparative negligence instruction.

i.

ł.

In <u>Herrington v. Hodges</u>, 161 So.2d 194 (Miss. 1964) the Supreme Court ruled regarding pleading, proof, and the effect of §11-7-17 of the Code of 1972 (formerly §1445 Code of 1942). In this case a one vehicle collision occurred causing injuries to both the driver and her guest

¹ The Supreme Court has held that if a party makes a proper objection at trial it preserves the issue for appeal even if it does not reiterate the error in a Rule 59 motion. 782288

diminished by the jury in proportion to the amount of negligence attributable to the person injured, or the owner of the property, or the person having control over the property."

Section 1455: "All questions of negligence and contributory negligence shall be for the jury to determine."

This language is not ambiguous. It requires the jury to do what it calls for, namely, determine *all questions of negligence and contributory negligence* and diminish the plaintiff's damages (if any) in proportion to the amount of negligence attributable (if any) to the plaintiff...<u>Herrington</u>, at 197).

(C) Lack of Evidence of Contributory Negligence

Callahan and Holst maintain that the negligence of Calendar Ledbetter was the sole proximate cause of the collision. Lee County acknowledged that it bears some degree of responsibility for the collision; however, the evidence establishes that Donna Callahan was negligent and also bears responsibility for the collision and, therefore, for the damages which both she and Mrs. Holst claim.

This case is similar in many respects to a case which the Supreme Court recently decided and which is reported at <u>Thompson v. Lee County</u>, 925 So.2d 57 (Miss. 2006). This case like <u>Thompson</u> involved a collision between an automobile and a school bus. In this case as in <u>Thompson</u> the automobile traveled north on a through highway, and the school bus traveled east on a subordinate county road. In this case as in <u>Thompson</u> the undisputed evidence showed that both drivers had a clear, unobstructed north-south view. In this case as in <u>Thompson</u> the undisputed evidence showed that the school bus came to a complete stop in obedience to the stop sign before entering the intersection. In this case as in <u>Thompson</u> the collision occurred in the lane for northbound traffic after the school bus had crossed the lane for southbound traffic and had partially crossed the lane for northbound traffic. In this case as in <u>Thompson</u> the automobile struck the mid-part of the bus. In <u>Thompson</u> the trial Court held that §63-3-805 Mississippi Code of 1972 sets out the duties of both drivers. That statute reads:

The driver of a vehicle shall stop as required by this chapter at the entrance to a through highway and shall yield the right-of-way to other vehicles which have entered the intersection from said through highway or which are approaching so closely on said through highway as to constitute an immediate hazard. However, said driver having so yielded may proceed and the drivers of all other vehicles approaching the intersection on said through highway shall yield the right-of-way to the vehicle so proceeding into or across the through highway.

The driver of a vehicle shall likewise stop in obedience to a stop sign as required by this chapter at an intersection where a stop sign is erected at one or more entrances thereto although not a part of a through highway and shall proceed cautiously, yielding to vehicles not so obliged to stop which are within the intersection or approaching so closely as to constitute an immediate hazard, but may then proceed.

The trial court construing §63-3-805 held that this statute does not confer an absolute right-of-way to the driver of a vehicle on the through highway. The trial court further held that Mississippi's comparative negligence statute applies to intersection collisions just as it applies to all other situations regarding negligence and causation. The trial court held that in certain situations both drivers can be at fault for an intersection collision. In <u>Thompson</u> the trial court found both drivers equally at fault for causing the collision.

On appeal the Mississippi Court of Appeals reversed the trial court on the issue of liability holding that because the school bus driver had a clear, unobstructed view and because the school bus driver had the stop sign, the driver on the through highway could not have been guilty of negligence.

The case then went to the Mississippi Supreme Court on a Writ of Certiorari. The Supreme Court reversed the Court of Appeals and reinstated this the trial court's decision. In <u>Thompson</u> the Supreme Court ruled as did the trial court that the school bus driver had satisfied his first duty by coming to a complete stop at the stop sign. The Supreme Court next observed

that if the school bus driver had a clear, unobstructed view to the south, then logically the automobile driver had a clear, unobstructed view to the north. The Supreme Court ruled that the trial court had correctly interpreted and applied both §63-3-805 and the comparative negligence statute.

The Supreme Court in analyzing the trial court's findings of fact and conclusions of law

stated:

Section 63-3-805 appropriately requires a driver of a vehicle approaching an intersection with a through highway and being confronted with a stop sign to stop. Proceeding cautiously, once the driver of the vehicle determines there are no vehicles on the through highway which pose an immediate hazard, that driver may proceed to enter the through highway. The drivers of vehicles traveling on the through highway and approaching the intersection "shall" yield the right-of-way to the vehicle which is proceeding into or across the through highway...

That Gregory came to a complete stop at the stop sign on North Street before entering Romie Hill Road is unrebutted in the record. The only other premise on which Joey could conclude that Gregory's school bus traveled from the stop sign to his northbound lane of travel in "just over one second" would be that the laws of physics allow a school bus to go from zero miles per hour to seven miles per hour, instantaneously. We find this to be an impossibility. Additionally, Gregory's unrebutted testimony was that at the time of the collision, he was traveling at the rate of "five, maybe a little bit more than that, six, seven miles an hour." As Gregory also testified, a school bus cannot "dart through" an intersection from a dead stop as compared to a car. In referring to school buses in general, Gregory testified that "[t]hey don't take off that fast." Thompson, at 65, 69-70.

The Supreme Court, therefore, concluded that the trial court had legally sufficient evidence to

conclude that the automobile driver was contributorily negligent. This case stands on all fours

with <u>Thompson</u>. The legally sufficient evidence establishes that Donna Callahan was contributorily negligent.

11

II. The Trial Court Erred in Reducing Donna Holst's Recovery by 35% as a Guest Passenger

Holst asserts that the trial court erroneously imputed Callahan's negligence to her and, therefore, erroneously reduced her damage award. Nowhere in his opinion does the trial judge say that he imputed Callahan's negligence to Holst. In fact, the trial court stated:

In considering the relative responsibility of the drivers of the two vehicles involved in the accident, the Court, in its role as fact finder, finds that Mrs. Ledbetter, driver of Defendant, Lee County School Board's bus is 65% responsible for the accident and resulting injuries, leaving Mrs. Callahan 35% of the responsibility for such.

The trial court did not reduce the damage award to Holst by imputing Callahan's negligence to her. Rather, the trial court applied the provisions of §85-5-7, which empower the fact finder to determine the relative fault of all persons – parties and non-parties – which caused damages. Furthermore, the statute as written at the time Holst and Callahan filed suit provided that she could recover up to 50% of her damages from Lee County, and she did in fact because of trial court's finding recover 65% of damages from the County.

Should Holst in her reply brief assert that the County should have affirmatively pled §85-5-7, the County submits that the same arguments it made in section I.B. of the brief apply. Holst cannot now claim for the first time that the trial court erroneously applied §85-5-7.

III. The Trial Court Erred in Determining the Amount of Damages

(A) Damages to Donna Holst

In 1997 Donna Holst suffered from intractable pain in her neck and right arm. She had a ruptured cervical disk, and she had not improved with conservative treatment. (Vol. II, Exhibits, P-5). At that time because of Holst's condition Dr. Thomas Windham admitted Holst to Baptist Memorial Hospital (Oxford) and performed an anterior cervical fusion with removal of the

ruptured disk because of her intractable pain. (Vol. 5, Exhibits, P-10).

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